FILE COPY

P		L		M
		T 3 0 2		U
	SUPREME	ASH GAISE COURT OF WEST VIRG	APPEALS	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 19-0679 (19-C-7)

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRANT COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA TWENTY-FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT CASE NO. 19-C-7

Jay Lawrence Smith, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

vs.

Angela B. Van Meter in her capacity as the Circuit Clerk of Grant County, The Grant County Circuit Clerk's Office, and The Grant County Commission, Defendants Below, Respondents

PETITIONERS' APPEAL BRIEF

Robert W. Bright (10145) Counsel for Petitioner WV State Bar #10145 278 S. 5th Ave. Middleport, Ohio 45760 740-304-0688 740-994-5178 (FAX) robwbright@yahoo.com

Assignments of Error

1: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARDS TO SMITH'S REQUEST TO BE ALLOWED TO TAKE DIGITAL IMAGES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS WITHOUT BEING CHARGED ONE DOLLAR (\$1.00) PER IMAGE.

2: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARDS TO SMITH'S REQUEST THAT HE BE PROVIDED COPIES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO A FOIA REQUEST BASED ON LAW WHICH IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS MATTER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner/Appellant Smith (hereinafter "Smith") is a freelance legal researcher and journalist who sought to obtain copies of certain public records from the Grant County Circuit Clerk's office (App. p. 3). At the Circuit Clerk's office. Smith requested to review State v. Kimberly Hartman, Case No. 18-F-22 (App. p. 3). Smith was provided with the file by a deputy clerk and informed that he was prohibited from using a camera to take pictures of any of the file's contents because it was the Clerk's "policy" (App. p. 3-4). Smith requested to see a copy of the policy. The deputy clerk deferred to Circuit Clerk Van Meter (App. p. 4).

Clerk Van Meter informed Smith that she was "obligated" to charge Smith \$1.00 per page for copies of documents. Smith informed Clerk Van Meter that he didn't need copies of the documents and that he could take digital images of the filings with his cell phone camera. Clerk Van Meter left, ostensibly to discuss the matter with Judge James Courrier. Upon her return, Clerk Van Meter informed Smith that he could take digital images, but that Smith would still have to pay \$1.00 per page for each image he made. Van Meter stated that Circuit Clerks are required to charge for any reproduction of any document held by their office. Smith exited the premises (App. p. 4).

Smith then traveled to the Hardy County Circuit Clerk's office, was given access to public records (in digital format on a public access terminal), and was allowed to take digital images of a

number of documents in full view of the Circuit Clerk's staff and without objection. Smith was not asked to pay any fee for digital images he took at the Hardy County Circuit Clerk's office (App. p. 5). Smith has been permitted to take digital images of public records without charge at Circuit Clerk's offices in Clay, Gilmer, Jackson, Kanawha, Logan, Mason, Putnam, Roane, Tucker, and Wood counties (App. p. 6).

On or about November 30, 2018, Smith sent Clerk Van Meter a FOIA request asking for a copy of several documents in four (4) cases. Smith enclosed five dollars (\$5.00) as payment to cover costs of duplication and postage (App. p. 6).

Clerk Van Meter declined to provide the copies and stated that she was "*obligated to charge copy fees according to W.V. Code 59-1-11*" of one dollar (\$1.00) per page. Smith responded by noting that, on or about June 7, 2015, H.B. 2636 became law and revised the FOIA law at W.V. Code 29B to require that the fees charged for photocopying records be "reasonable" and based on the "actual cost" of duplication. Smith persisted with additional, similar requests, which were all denied for similar reasons (App. p 7-8).

Smith then filed suit in the Grant County Circuit Court against the Defendants (App. p. 10). The Defendants answered and filed motions to dismiss (App. p. 28, 30, 38). After a brief hearing held on June 18, 2019, the Court below granted the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss by Order dated July 1, 2019 (App. p. 42). Smith appeals from that Order.

The issue of whether or not a Circuit Clerk can charge a person for taking photographs of documents in the Circuit Clerk's office appears to be an issue of first impression in this Court. Several other states have decided that people should be allowed to take photos of official documents without being charged a fee for doing so.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The statutes relevant to Petitioner Smith's Assignments of Error state in pertinent part (emphasis added):

"The clerk of a circuit court shall charge and collect <u>for services rendered by the clerk</u> the following fees... For a transcript, copy, or paper <u>made by the clerk</u> for use in any other court or otherwise to go out of the office, for each page, \$1..." W.Va. Code 59-1-11.

"The public body may establish fees <u>reasonably calculated to reimburse it for its actual cost</u> <u>in making reproductions</u> of records." W.Va. Code 29B-1-3.

Petitioner Smith argues that the above statutes do not require Circuit Clerks to charge people for taking photographs of documents in the Circuit Clerk's office. Petitioner Smith also argues that the applicable statutes explicitly or implicitly require the Circuit Clerk to only charge fees reasonably calculated to reimburse it for its actual cost in making reproductions of records. In other words, the applicable statutes presume that a Circuit Clerk is not to treat the making of copies or images of documents in the Circuit Clerk's office as a means of revenue generation.

As such, Smith argues that it is impermissible for a Circuit Clerk to charge any fee for images made by the individual using their own cell phone camera or similar apparatus. Such images do not require the Circuit Clerk to "make" anything or to "render" any services, and certainly do not result in any cost to the Circuit Clerk.

While this issue appears to be an issue of first impression with this Court, several other states have decided that people should be allowed to take photos of official documents without being charged a fee for doing so.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner Smith does not believe that Oral Argument is necessary in this matter. Petitioner Smith believes this case is appropriate for Memorandum Decision.

ARGUMENT

DISCUSSION OF HOW THE PRIMARY ISSUE IS HANDLED IN OTHER STATES

Because the primary issue in this case appears to be an issue of first impression with this Court, Petitioner Smith asks the Court to consider the way other states have handled the issue before advancing to the argument on Petitioner's Assignments of Error. The way those other states have handle the issue may be applicable to both of Petitioner's Assignments of Error.

Pennsylvania

The Pennsylvania Office of Open Records administers the Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law ("RTKL") which went into effect in 2008-2009. In *Muenz v. Reserve Twp.*, 2014 WL 10288926 (Pa.Off.Open Rec.), the Pennsylvania Office of Open Records addressed the issue of an individual who requests to take photos of official documents and issued an Amended Final Determination on August 14, 2015¹. In that Amended Final Determination, the Pennsylvania Office of Open Records held that (emphasis added):

Allowing an agency which lacks separate statutory authority to set a fee schedule prohibiting the photographing of documents would be contrary to the purpose of the RTKL, which is "to maximize access to government records." See *Gingrich v. Pa. Game Comm'n*, No. 1254 C.D. 2011, 2012 Pa. Commw. Unpub. LEXIS 38 at *16 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2012). To hold otherwise would not only permit agencies to allow the public to inspect public records. but would also. <u>following the reasoning to its logical conclusion, permit agencies to prohibit the public from taking written notes about public records or recording an audio dictation describing</u>.

¹ Determination also found at" https://www.openrecords.pa.gov/Documents/FinalDet/18005.pdf

public records. Such an interpretation of the RTKL would lead to an absurd and unreasonable result, and cannot be said to have been the intention of the General Assembly. See *1 Pa.C.S. § 1922*. Therefore, under Section 701(a) of the RTKL, the Township must make responsive records available to the Requester for his inspection and duplication by photography.

See also: Lynch v. Indiana Township, 2018 WL 3494824 (Pa.Off.Open Rec.); Debartola

v. Cambria County District Attorney's Office. 2017 WL 2843927 (Pa.Off.Open Rec.).

Florida

The Office of the Attorney General of Florida has prepared FLORIDA'S

GOVERNMENT-IN-THE-SUNSHINE MANUAL AND PUBLIC RECORDS LAW

MANUAL². The Manual summarizes Florida's laws applicable to issues similar to the ones in this

case at pages 178-179 (emphasis added):

10. Requester makes his/her own copies

Section 119.07(3)(a). F.S., provides a "right of access to public records for the purpose of making photographs of the record while such record is in the possession, custody, and control of the custodian of public records." This subsection "**applies to the making of photographs** in the conventional sense by use of a camera device to capture images of public records...". Section 119.07(3)(b), F.S. The photographing is to be done in the room where the public records are kept... In such cases **the custodian may not charge the copy charges** authorized in s.119.07(4)(a), F.S....

Louisiana

In First Commerce Title Co., Inc. v. Martin, 887 So.2d 716, 38, 903 (La.App. 2 Cir.

11/17/04), the Court considered a case in which a "Title company brought action against clerk of

court seeking declaratory judgment ordering clerk to permit the use of a portable scanner in the

² The manual can be found at: http://myfloridalegal.com/webfiles.nsf/WF/MNOS-B9QQ79/\$file/SunshineManual.pdf

clerk's offices." The Trial Court ruled in favor of the Clerk of Court. The Court of Appeals reversed and concluded that (emphasis added):

... the clerk of court of Bienville Parish is hereby ordered to permit the use of a **hand-held scanner** in the clerk of court's office to **copy public records** during normal business hours **at no charge**.

See also: Johnson v. City of Pineville, 9 So.3d 313, 2008-1234 (La.App. 3 Cir. 4/8/09),

referencing First Commerce, supra.

Illinois

In People ex rel. Gibson v. Peller (1962), 34 Ill.App.2d 372, 181 N.E.2d 376, the Illinois

Appellate Court - First District, Second Division considered a case in which the Plaintiffs "brought

a professional photographer with them to enable them to photographically reproduce the records"

of the Board of Education. The Court held that (emphasis added):

Defendants say that relators have the right to look, examine and inspect with the naked eye the public records and copy by hand these public records, but that they <u>have no right to photograph the records</u>. <u>This argument</u> <u>cannot be sustained by logic or common knowledge</u>. <u>Modern</u> <u>photography is accurate, harmless, noiseless and time saving. It does</u> <u>nothing more than capture that which is seen with the naked eye</u>. Neither defendants nor the public can be harmed by the reproduction of the records exactly as they exist. The fact that more modern methods of copying are devised should not lessen the basic right given under the common law.

Alabama

The Alabama Attorney General issued an extensive opinion on the issue which can be found

at: Ala. Op. Atty. Gen. No. 2009-076 (Ala.A.G.), 2009 WL 1745598, and which states in pertinent

part (emphasis added):

If possible, <u>a public agency should provide free copies of public records</u>. However, <u>if budgetary constraints</u> prevent this, then <u>a public agency may</u> charge a nominal fee, if necessary, to cover its costs of providing copies of public records... 184 Op. Ala. Att'y Gen 27 (August 25, 1981)...

... the <u>fee charged should be limited to the actual cost of providing</u> <u>information</u> to the public, <u>so long as those costs are reasonable</u>. An excessive fee should not be charged as the public's right to a copy of public records should not be restricted. 240 Op. Ala. Att'y Gen. 16 (July 17, 1995), 240 Op. Ala. Att'y Gen. 17 (July 20, 1995)...

The <u>regular copy fee may not be assessed if individuals use personal</u> <u>cameras or other electronic devices to make a copy</u> of a public record.

Arizona

The Attorney General of Arizona has also addressed the issue in Ariz. Op. Atty. Gen. No.

I13-012 (Ariz.A.G.), 2013 WL 6410549 (emphasis added):

A public body may charge copying fees under Arizona's public records law only if the public body itself makes the copies using public resources and furnishes them to the requesting party. In the event that a member of the public seeks to inspect public records and make copies using his or her own personal device, Arizona's public records law does not allow a public body to charge a fee.

It is clear that other states have found that individuals have a right to photograph public records and that those states prohibit individuals from being charged "copying" fees for making photographs of public records. Additionally, other states often hold that an charges for the clerk making actual paper copies must be limited to an amount sufficient to cover the actual costs of making those copies.

Of particular note is that - all the way back in 1962, the Illinois Court in *People ex rel*.

Gibson v. Peller, *supra*, found that "*Modern photography is accurate, harmless, noiseless and time saving.*". Now that we're in 2019 - nearly 60 years later - "modern" photography is even more accurate, harmless, noiseless, and time saving than it was in the '60s.

1: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARDS TO SMITH'S REQUEST TO BE ALLOWED TO TAKE DIGITAL IMAGES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS WITHOUT BEING CHARGED ONE DOLLAR (\$1.00) PER IMAGE

W.Va. Code 59-1-11 states in pertinent part (emphasis added): "… the following fees shall be charged and collected:… For a transcript, copy, or paper <u>made by the clerk</u> for use in any other court or otherwise to go out of the office, for each page, \$1…".

Additionally, the beginning of *W.Va. Code* 59-1-11 reads (emphasis added): "*The clerk of a circuit court shall charge and collect for services rendered by the clerk the following fees*...". In relation to copies of public documents in the Circuit Clerk's office, it is clear that the purpose of the fees/charges contemplated by *W.Va. Code* 59-1-11 is to compensate the Clerk for services rendered and for the cost of materials used up by the copying process. The fees/charges are not intended to be a means of revenue generation.

While *W.Va. Code 59-1-11* does clearly require Circuit Clerks to charge \$1.00 per copy for every copy <u>made by the clerk</u>, that statute does not in any way address the issue of private citizens taking digital images of public documents at the Circuit Clerk's office.

Preparing a transcript/paper, or making copies of documents requires the Clerk to do something. Such activities also use up materials such as ink/toner, paper, staples, etc... When a private citizen such as Smith uses their own cell phone camera or other camera to make digital images of public documents, no materials or supplies are used up and the digital images are not required to be "*made by the clerk*". The Clerk doesn't have to make, do anything, or even render a service after the Clerk has located the file and handed it to the private citizen.

As such, there is no reasonable basis in the statute for a Circuit Clerk to charge a private citizen one dollar (\$1.00) per page for digital images of those pages made by the private citizen with

the private citizen's own camera. Earlier in this brief, Petitioner provided the Court with authority from other states which supports Petitioner's position in this matter.

Wherefore, Petitioner/Appellant Smith asserts that the Grant County Circuit Court erred in dismissing Smith's Complaint filed against the Defendants and moves this Court to reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and remand the case for discovery and trial.

2: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARDS TO SMITH'S REQUEST THAT HE BE PROVIDED COPIES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO A FOIA REQUEST BASED ON LAW WHICH IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS MATTER

In relation to FOIA requests, *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3* states in pertinent part: "*The public body* may establish fees reasonably calculated to reimburse it for its actual cost in making reproductions of records."

The Circuit Clerk's position in the matter was/is that *W.Va. Code 59-1-11* is applicable to FOIA requests and, therefore, the Clerk is required by law to charge Smith - or any other person - one dollar (\$1.00) per page of copies made by the Clerk.

However, there is nothing in either code section explicitly stating or even implying that *W.Va. Code 59-1-11* is in any way applicable to the FOIA statute codified at *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3*. Additionally, *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3* is applicable to "*any public record of a public body in this state*" specifically in relation to FOIA requests made to those public bodies. Therefore, FOIA requests made under *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3* are outside the scope of the "normal" request for copies from a Circuit Clerks office which are governed by *W.Va. Code 59-1-11*.

As such, when a FOIA request is made to a Circuit Clerk, the Clerk is merely a "public body" and is required to comply with the terms of *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3*. The relevant portion of that Code

section states (emphasis added): "The public body may establish fees reasonably calculated to reimburse it for its <u>actual cost</u> in making reproductions of records."

That provision of *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3* is consistent with the authority from other states that Petitioner Smith referred to earlier in this brief. Which, stated another way, is that making copies of public records was not and is not intended to be a means of revenue generation for government offices which control and maintain those public records. It is often necessary for individual citizens to obtain copies of public records for a variety of reasons. The cost of obtaining those necessary public records should be no more than the actual cost of making those copies.

As such, Petitioner Smith's position in this matter has been and is that one dollar (\$1.00) per copy is not reasonably calculated to reimburse the Clerk for its actual cost in making copies of public documents.

Certainly, the issue of the actual cost of making copies could be debated if it were based on evidence presented by the parties. One dollar (\$1.00) per copy does seem to be a common fee for paper copies at Courthouses (likely because of *W.Va. Code 59-1-11*, at least in relation to general requests for copies at Circuit Clerk's offices).

On the other hand, Appellant Smith's Counsel generally charges \$0.10 per copy to his clients and finds that \$0.10 per copy is sufficient to cover the costs related to those copies. Smith's counsel is aware of other attorneys that have historically charged a similar amount to their clients for copies. A library in Petitioner's Counsel's city charges \$0.25 per copy - which is still 75% less than the Clerk attempted to charge Smith. Presumably the library considers that sufficient to cover the costs related to those copies. It is undoubtedly possible that the Circuit Clerk's copier requires a special toner that is exorbitantly expensive. Or that the Circuit Clerk leases its copier and the lease costs are very high.

But we don't know any of that - because discovery was not conducted and there was no evidence or testimony below to establish what the Clerk's actual cost of making copies of public records is. As such, the Circuit Court's dismissal of Smith's complaint against the Defendants was and is premature and should be reversed for discovery to proceed.

Additionally, similar to *W.Va. Code 59-1-11*, *W.Va. Code 29B-1-3* also refers to the public body "making" copies. So we're back to the issue of what constitutes "making". Making copies of documents requires the Clerk to do something. Such activities also use up materials such as ink/toner, paper, staples, etc... When a private citizen such as Petitioner Smith uses their own cell phone camera or other camera to make digital images of public documents, no materials or supplies are used up and the digital images are not required to be "made by the clerk". The Clerk doesn't have to make, do anything, or even render a service after the Clerk has located the file and handed it to the private citizen.

As such, there is no reasonable basis in the statute for a Circuit Clerk to charge a private citizen one dollar (\$1.00) per page for digital images of those pages made by the private citizen with the private citizen's own camera.

Wherefore, Petitioner/Appellant Smith asserts that the Grant County Circuit Court erred in dismissing Smith's Complaint filed against the Defendants as premature and moves this Court to reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and remand the case for discovery and trial.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, for all of the above reasons, Petitioner Jay Lawrence Smith moves the Court to reverse the decision of the Trial Court and remand this matter to proceed towards discovery and Trial.

Jay Lawrence Smith By Counsel,

Robert W. Bright (10145) 278 S. 5th Ave. Middleport, Ohio 45760 740-304-0688 740-994-5178 (FAX) Counsel for Petitioner Jay Lawrence Smith