DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA
NO. 19-0679
(19-C-7)

NOV 2 5 2019

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRANT COUNTY,
WEST VIRGINIA
TWENTY-FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
CASE NO. 19-C-7

Jay Lawrence Smith, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

VS

Angela B. VanMeter
in her capacity as the Circuit Clerk of Grant County,
The Grant County Circuit Clerk's Office, and
The Grant County Commission,
Defendants Below, Respondents

RESPONDENTS' SUMMARY RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

John G. Ours Counsel for Respondents WV State Bar #2791 5 Highland Ave. Petersburg, WV 26847 304-257-2323 304-257-4434 (Fax) GrantCoPA@gmail.com

SUMMARY RESPONSE

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARD TO SMITH'S REQUEST TO BE ALLOWED TO TAKE DIGITAL IMAGES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS WITHOUT BEING CHARGED ONE DOLLAR (\$1.00) PER IMAGE.
- 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARD TO SMITH'S REQUEST THAT HE BE PROVIDED COPIES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO A FOIA REQUEST BASED ON LAW WHICH IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS MATTER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Simply stated, the Appellant, who identifies himself as a free lance legal researcher, and journalist, walked into the Circuit Clerk's office in Grant County, and demanded that he be allowed, without charge, to photograph the contents of 4 criminal files under her control. When she prohibited him from taking pictures without paying \$1.00 for each, he got mad, and left.

He shortly thereafter filed an unclear FOIA request and sent \$5.00 suggesting it was more than enough to cover the cost of the requested documents, without allowing the Clerk any input in determining the cost of the requested documents. When the Clerk returned the \$5.00, and requested clarity for his request, he refused to clarify his request, and filed suit against the Clerk, like he has done with multiple other Circuit Clerks, in this State.

The Petitioner's statement of the case is accurate to a large extent, but doesn't quite have the necessary detail for the Court. Mr. Smith did appear at the Circuit Clerk's office, and did request to see 4 criminal files that dealt with criminal charges against the former Circuit Clerk of Hardy County, and other Co-Defendants. He was provided with 1 of the files by a Deputy Clerk. He then informed the Deputy that he intended to take pictures of the contents of the file. The Deputy Clerk

informed him that it was against the Clerk's policy, and referred him to the Clerk. The Circuit Clerk, who is in her first term of office, had never had any person demand to make copies of the contents of criminal files by photographing them, without charge. She informed Mr. Smith that he would have to pay \$1.00 for each photographic copy that went out of her office. Mr. Smith, became upset, irrate, refused to pay, and left her office.

Mr. Smith, shortly thereafter, made a FOIA Request, and enclosed \$5.00 to cover the cost of copying what the Clerk later determined to be 66 documents from 4 criminal files. The FOIA request wasn't clear as to whether Mr. Smith was requesting access to the files, again, or copies. The request also misnamed 3 of the 4 Defendants. The Circuit Clerk wrote Mr. Smith, returned the \$5.00 sent with the request, advising that it was insufficient, and requested clarity from Mr. Smith regarding his FOIA request to determine just what it was that he wanted. Mr. Smith, over the telephone, and through correspondence, continued to argue with the Circuit Clerk that the \$1.00 per copy required by WV Code §59-1-11(b)(2) was not the law, and that the only charge that she could make had to be under WV Code §29B-1-3, the reasonable cost based on the actual cost. He sent \$5.00 again. Mr. Smith recorded some of his arguments and discussions with the Clerk, and posted the recordings on YouTube and social media to the dismay and humiliation of the Clerk.

Rather than cooperate with the Circuit Clerk, with regard to her request for clarity, which is required under FOIA, Mr. Smith filed suit, Pro Se, against the Circuit Clerk of Grant County and the Grant County Commission, after filing a questionable Financial Affidavit that allowed him to not pay the filing and service fees in the Circuit Court, or the filing fee in the Supreme Court.

On March 19, 2019, Mr. Smith signed, before a Notary, a Financial Affidavit to obtain a waiver of the filing and service fees required for his law suit. He filed it with the Circuit Clerk on March 25, 2019. Therein he swore that his yearly expenses for rent, food, utilities, cell phone, and miscellaneous were \$14,160.00, \$5,160.00 greater than his stated annual net income of \$9,000.00.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no law, known to the Clerk, or counsel, that requires her to allow Mr. Smith, or anyone, to photograph the records under her control, free of charge. She was trained to charge for copies of documents leaving her office.

WV Code §59-1-11, titled Fees to be Charged by the Clerk of the Circuit Court, provides:

(a) The Clerk of a Circuit Court shall charge and collect for services rendered by the Clerk the following fees which shall be paid in advance by the parties for whom services are to be rendered. Subsection (b)(2) says for a transcript, copy, or paper, made by the Clerk for use in any other Court, or otherwise, to go out of the office, for each page \$1.00. The history of the statute shows that the Legislature, since 1872, has statutorily designated the fees to be charged by the Circuit Clerk, for the last 156 years.

The other statute involved, in this Appeal, deals with FOIA, WV Code §29B-1-3. It provides "the public body may establish fees reasonably calculated to reimburse it for its actual costs in making reproductions of records.

The two statutes are in conflict. The Legislature in one instance requires the Circuit Clerk to charge \$1.00 for every copy leaving their office. Mr. Smith was wanting to take digital images, and the resulting copies of the criminal files from her office, free of charge. Her interpretation of the law, under §59-1-11(b)(2), required her to charge Mr. Smith \$1.00 for any copy of a document leaving her office. Mr. Smith argues that he is permitted to take pictures of the documents in the Circuit Clerk's office, free of charge.

Mr. Smith, the Petitioner, argues that the FOIA statute overrules all other existing laws with regard to fees. It is conceded that the two areas of law are in conflict.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondents do not believe that oral argument is necessary in this matter. The Respondents believe that this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARD TO SMITH'S REQUEST TO BE ALLOWED TO TAKE DIGITAL IMAGES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS WITHOUT BEING CHARGED ONE DOLLAR (\$1.00) PER IMAGE.

There is no WV Statute, or Supreme Court decision that required the Circuit Clerk to allow Mr. Smith, or anyone, to take pictures of documents in the Circuit Clerk's office, free of charge.

WV Code §59-1-11(b)(2) states in pertinent part (emphasis added) the following fees shall be charged and collected for a transcript, **copy**, or paper made by the Clerk for use in any other Court, or otherwise **to go out of the office**, **for each page \$1.00**.

When Mr. Smith appeared, and wanted to take pictures of the contents of the files in the Circuit Clerk's office, no one can argue that the images he would have taken would not have been copies of the documents, and if Mr. Smith left with the copies, no one can argue that the copies hadn't gone out of the Circuit Clerk's office. Mr. Smith did not, in any way, comply with §59-1-11(b)(2). His argument is that he didn't have to because it is not the applicable law.

In none of the Circuit Clerk's training was she instructed that individuals are permitted, free of charge, to make copies of the documents under her control by photographing them.

The Circuit Clerk, from her training, believed that she was required, by law, to charge \$1.00 for any copy leaving her office, whether it was one she made, or one made by his camera. The Circuit Clerk of Grant County did what she believed she was required to do to comply with her training, and WV Code §59-1-11(b)(2), when she told Mr. Smith his copies would be \$1.00 per

copy. Mr. Smith made no attempt to comply. He refused to pay.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING SMITH'S COMPLAINT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN REGARD TO SMITH'S REQUEST THAT HE BE PROVIDED COPIES OF PUBLIC DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO A FOIA REQUEST BASED ON LAW WHICH IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS MATTER.

Mr. Smith's position with regard to his FOIA request, is clearly untenable. When he made his FOIA request to the Circuit Clerk for the documents he desired, he had no authority to send \$5.00 to cover the cost, and expect the Clerk to accept it. Under the FOIA statute, the Clerk determines the cost, not Mr. Smith. He did not permit the Circuit Clerk to determine her actual cost for the requested documents. He didn't allow the Circuit Clerk any input in determining what the reasonable fee for the requested documents should be, as required, under the FOIA statute.

The Circuit Court of Grant County is still a paper circuit. E-filing is not required. It may be that Mr. Smith believed that there was some kind of a computer button that the Circuit Clerk may have been able to push, and automatically load what he requested onto a disc. That was not, and is not, the case.

The Circuit Clerk did not deny Petitioner Smith's FOIA request. When Mr. Smith was asked by the Circuit Clerk for clarity in his request, his response was to file suit, Pro Se, in the lower Court, against the Circuit Clerk and the Grant County Commission as he has done, on multiple occasions against other Circuit Clerks, in this State.

Mr. Smith can't argue that he complied with the FOIA statute, or that the Clerk did something wrong. He did not respond to the Circuit Clerk's request for clarity. He did not permit the Clerk any input in determining the cost of the requested items. When the Clerk didn't do as he demanded, he filed suit.

At the time of the submission of this Summary Response, 3 things are certain:

- 1. There is no law, or Supreme Court decision, requiring Circuit Clerks to allow anyone to take pictures of the documents under their care, free of charge.
- 2. WV Code §59-1-11(b)(2) tells our Circuit Clerks what fees they are to charge for copies leaving their office. Mr. Smith refused to pay the \$1.00 per copy, by the Circuit Clerk, and left.
- 3. The FOIA statute, particularly WV Code §29B-1-3, provides for how the cost of a FOIA request is to be determined. Mr. Smith did not allow the Circuit Clerk to determine the actual cost. He did not respond to her request for clarification. He refused to comply with the FOIA statute either.

At the time of the hearing for the Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Smith's Complaint, the Circuit Court learned from the pleadings, the arguments, and Mr. Smith's representations that: Mr. Smith didn't provide authority for being permitted to take pictures of the documents, in the Circuit Clerk's office free of charge; Mr. Smith admitted he didn't comply with the Clerk's proposed charge under WV Code §59-1-11(b)(2); Mr. Smith did not comply with the FOIA statute by not responding to the Clerk's request for clarity, and not allowing the Circuit Clerk's input in to determining her actual costs under the FOIA statute, before filing suit. The Circuit Court was absolutely correct in dismissing Mr. Smith's action.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's action. The dismissal came, first, as a result of the Petitioner not providing unto the Circuit Court authority that he was entitled to photograph the documents in the Circuit Clerk's office without cost. Second, he refused to pay the \$1.00 copy fee for the documents under §59-1-11(b)(2). Third, under his FOIA request, he did not

comply with the Clerk's clarity request, or allow her to determine the cost. He instead filed suit.

The Circuit Court was correct. Dismissal was appropriate.

Respondents urge the West Virginia Supreme Court to uphold the decision of the Circuit Court of Grant County in dismissing the Petitioner's action.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA